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SANTA BARBARA, CALIFORNIA
THURSDAY, JANUARY 15, 2015
1:30 P.M.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Good afternoon. This is the
videotaped deposition of Roy Malmberg in a matter of
FLIR Systems versus Leak Surveys. This case is pending
in the United States Patent and Trademark Office before
the Patent Trial and Appeal Board.

Today"s date is Thursday, January 15, 2015.

And the time on the video monitor is 1:31 p.m. The
location i1s 21 East Carrillo Street, Suite 190, Santa
Barbara, California.

The certified shorthand reporter is Erika
Sjoquist. My name is Christian Martinez, a certified
legal video specialist, and 1 represent Depo Vision
located iIn Santa Barbara, California.

Would counsel and all present, please,
introduce yourselves for the record and state whom you
represent.

MR. VINNAKOTA: This i1s Rajkumar Vinnakota with
the law firm of Skiermont Puckett, representing patent

owner Leak Surveys, Incorporated.

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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MR. PUCKETT: Donald Puckett, also representing
patent owner Leak Surveys.

MR. LEWIS: Chris Lewis with FLIR Systems.

MR. EMERSON: Russ Emerson, Haynes & Boone, for
FLIR Systems.

MR. DeMILLE: Rickard DeMille, Brinks Gilson
Lione, for FLIR Systems.

MR. GABRIC: Ralph Gabric, Brinks Gilson, on
behalf of FLIR Systems and the witness.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Thank you.

Would the court reporter, please, swear iIn the
witness.

COURT REPORTER: Raise your right hand for me,
please.

Do you solemnly swear or affirm that the
testimony you"re about to give today will be the truth,
the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

THE WITNESS: I do.

COURT REPORTER: Thank you.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: You may proceed.

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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ROY MALMBERG,
HAVING BEEN FIRST DULY SWORN BY THE REPORTER, WAS
EXAMINED AND TESTIFIED AS FOLLOWS:

EXAMINATION

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:
Q Good afternoon, sir.
Can you please state your full legal name for
the record?
A Roy Dale Malmberg.
Q Thank you. Can you, please, spell your last

name for the record?

A M-A-L-M-B-E-R-G.

Q Have you ever did not deposed before?

A No.

Q This is your first deposition?

A Yes.

Q Since 1t"s your first deposition, 1"m going to

go over some ground rules, which you may have already
gone over with your counsel here, so bear with me for a
couple seconds.

As you can see, that you are being videotaped
and also there i1s a court reporter taking down every

word that"s being said.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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You have an understanding of that; is that

correct?
A Correct.
Q Because the court reporter is taking every word

that you are saying, it"s very hard for the court
reporter to take any type of verbal cues, like nodding
or kind of a shaking of the head.

During this process, when 1 ask questions and
you want to answer, can you please go ahead and make
sure that you verbalize your answer in whatever form so
the court reporter can take that?

Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q And since again this is your first deposition,
I am going to go over some other ground rules, which I™m
supposed to go over with respect to the procedure and
also the proceedings that we"re in; one being that this
IS not going to be a marathon session. So if you want
-— 1 usually break every hour on the hour. It"s how I
usually go, but if you want to take a break at any time,
just let me know. Let"s just finish up that question,
and we can take that break.

Is that okay with you?

A Yes.

Q But 1 have to caution you, however, though,

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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that during the breaks, in these proceedings, you are
not allowed to talk about the substance of what you are
being cross-examined or what you may be cross-examined
with any of the lawyers that are representing you.

Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q So to be fair, when you come back from the
break, 1"m going to have to ask you that question, if
you spoke to any attorney regarding the substance that
you just testified on or you may be testifying on. And
SO we are going to be asking that question right after
each break.

Okay?

A (Indicating).

Q And also, if for some reason you have spoken to
the attorney, you have to truthfully tell me that.

Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q The final point, also, 1 would just like to
make Is that during the process of this deposition, when
I ask a question, your lawyer will say stuff
occasionally, objecting to maybe the form of the
question or instructing you not, the witness, for
privilege, answer.

Do you understand that?

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A Yes.

Q Unless the -- your attorney specifically
instructs you not to answer, you still have to complete
the answer regardless of what objection he may put into
the record.

Do you understand that?

A Say that again.

Q Unlless your attorney specifically instructs you
not to answer, you still have to finish completing the
answer to any question 1 ask regardless of what
objection he may say unless he specifically tells you
not to answer.

Do you understand that?

A Yes.
Q How did you prepare for this deposition?
A I reviewed the document, the brochure for the

Merlin camera.

Q Is there anything else you reviewed?
A No.
Q And when did you do -- when did you review this

document, this Merlin brochure you referred to?
A February 2013. A year ago, approximately.
Q Let me rephrase the question.
You -- my question was, First, did you review

anything for preparation of this deposition?

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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MR. GABRIC: Let me just --

MR. VINNAKOTA: 1 -- I"m going to --

MR. GABRIC: Let me help you out. There"s a
difference between declaration and deposition. This is
your deposition.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Right. Counsel, 1711 get it.
111 straighten it out. You don®"t have to coach him.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q So, my question was, in preparation for this
deposition today, what did you do to prepare for that?

A I sat with my legal counsel.

Q And 1 don"t want any of the communications.
That"s privileged.

When did you sit with your legal counsel?

A Tuesday and yesterday afternoon, Wednesday.

Q Of this week?

A Yes.

Q And approximately, how long did you sit with
your legal counsel?

A Two sessions. Probably a total of 3 hours.

Q Three hours each session or 3 hours iIn
combination of both sessions?

A Combination of both sessions.

Q And In those sessions, my question is, did you

review any documents?

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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12
A Yes.
Q And what did you review?
A We reviewed the brochure, the Merlin brochure.
Q Is there anything else you reviewed iIn

preparation for this deposition?

A No.

Q So 1"m going to go ahead, for housekeeping
sake, Introduce what"s going to be marked as Malmberg

Deposition Exhibit 1, and this is a deposition notice.

(Exhibit 1 marked for identification.)

Have you seen this document?

A No.

Q Can you, please, look through i1t?

Upon your review, your testimony is you still
have never seen this document?

A That"s correct.

Q And just for the record, 1 will note the Notice
of Deposition was stated that your deposition was going
to take place Friday -- Friday, January 16th, at
9:00 a.m. of this year. By stipulation of parties, we
moved your deposition to this time.

Were you made aware of that?

A Yes.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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Q When were you made aware of that?
A Wednesday. Wednesday afternoon.
Q Was that change iIn the deposition time

something that you wanted?

A Yes. 1 have a commitment tomorrow for a field
test, and my presence was required out there in the
field.

Q When did you become aware that you had a field
test that you have to conduct?

A I was asked if I could participate Tuesday by
managers at FLIR.

Q I"m also going to hand you a series of
documents, and we will go through it individual, but
it"s easier if 1 just go ahead and hand it to you in one
setting. The first is, uhm... well, what I"m going to

mark as Malmberg Exhibit 2.

(Exhibit 2 marked for identification.)

And 1"m going to also going to hand you what"s

going to be marked as Malmberg Exhibit 3 to this

deposition.

(Exhibit 3 marked for identification.)

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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And 1"m also going to hand you what"s being

marked as Malmberg Exhibit 4.

(Exhibit 4 marked for identification.)

And finally, I am going to hand you what"s been

marked as Malmberg Exhibit 5.

(Exhibit 5 marked for identification.)

And I™m going to go through these one at a
time, so bear with me.

Okay. So looking at Malmberg Exhibit 2, take a
couple seconds to look through that. 1 will represent
IS a signed declaration by you. What I1*d like first is
confirmation that you did provide a declaration. And
you can turn to the page Exhibit 10160005. It"s dated
February 6, 2014.

Can you confirm that you actually signed this
declaration?

A Yes.

Q Can you -- without going to the attachments
yet, can you check to make sure this is the entirety of
the declaration that you had signed on February 6, 20147?

And we are still on Malmberg Exhibit 2. Sorry.

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A Yes.

Q Now, attached to Malmberg Exhibit 2, uhm, 1
believe are two attachments, an Attachment A and
Attachment B. 1711 represent Attachment A is --

Well, 1 believe from your declaration, you
called this the Merlin brochure; is that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And Attachment B, again from your declaration,
you called this the Merlin User Guide; is that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Again, take a couple minutes. |1 want to make
sure we have the entirety of what you consider
Attachment A and Attachment B.

And my question is, can you confirm that the
entirety of Attachment A and B i1s included in Malmberg
Deposition Exhibit 2?

A That looks to be a complete copy of the users
guide and the Merlin brochure.

Q Thank you.

Can you now turn to Malmberg Deposition
Exhibit 3?

And at some point In these proceedings, did you
sign a second declaration in these proceedings?

A Yes.

Q And if you turn to page 4 of this declaration,

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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it"s dated October 2, 2014.

A
Q

these proceedings after you reviewed the contents, sir?

A
Q

in these proceedings?

another declaration and 4. 4 and 5 are two more
declarations.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q

And if you turn to page 5, 1t"s dated October 16, 2014;

is that correct?

A

o rr O r O r QO

then?

Do you see that?
Yes.

Is this the second declaration you executed in

Yes.

Are you aware of signing any other declarations

MR. GABRIC: Object to form.
THE WITNESS: Yes. There"s -- Exhibit 5 is

Okay. So, let"s look at Exhibit 4, please.

Correct.

Who put the "one six"™ in there?
I don"t know.

Is that your signature?

Yes.

But did you put the "one six"?
I don"t recall.

Do you recall when you signed this declaration

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A Not specifically.

Q Okay. And so, this is a additional declaration
that you provided, is that correct, that you believe you
did?

A Correct.

Q But you don®t know when you actually dated it;
Is that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Okay. Let"s go back to Exhibit 2 and 3 real
quick.

In Exhibit 2, you see the February 6, 2014,
date on page 5?

A I"m sorry. Say that --

Q On Exhibit 2, if you turn to page 5 --

A Page 5.

Q -— there®s a February 6, 2014 date.
Do you see that?

A Oh, sorry. 1°m on the wrong one.
February 6th, yes.

Q Do you recall seeing the "6" in that line
before you signed it?

A Not specifically.

Q And then also, if you turn to deposition
Exhibit 3, on page 4 --

A Yes.

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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Q -- where it says October 2, 2014 --
A Yes.
Q -- do you recall seeing that 2" in October 2nd

before you signed i1t?
A Not specifically, no.
Q Now, let"s turn to deposition Exhibit 5.
Do you see the, on page 5, February 6, 2014,
date?
A Yes.
Q On February 6, 2014, did you only sign one

declaration i1n these proceedings?

A I don"t recall.

Q Do you think you may have signed two
declarations?

A I don"t recall.

Q We" 1l get back to that one. Let"s go back to
deposition Exhibit 2. Let me strike that. Let"s turn
back to deposition Exhibit 3.

On deposition Exhibit 3, there"s also two, I™m
sorry, three attachments.
Am 1 correct on that?

A Correct.

Q And when you executed this declaration, did you
have three attachments?

A I don"t recall.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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Q Do you recall whether or not you executed a
declaration that talked about three attachments?

A No.

Q So when you signed this declaration, that"s
dated October 2nd, 2014, did you know there were any
attachments to it?

A No.

Q So when you executed this declaration, dated
October 2, 2014, were you just provided a declaration
with no attachments?

A To the best of my recollection, yes.

Q Let"s go to deposition Exhibit Number 4.

Deposition Exhibit Number 4, there are four
attachments.
Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q When you executed this declaration that -- you
testified earlier you are not sure who put the 16" in
October 16, 2014.

Did you personally attach these -- let me
strike that. Let me rephrase the question.

This declaration that"s purportedly executed on
October 16, 2014, when you executed this declaration,
did you see these attachments attached to that

declaration?

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A
Q

No.

Let"s go back to deposition Exhibit 3, please.

And specifically, can you turn to Attachment B? Seems

to be a web printout page.

> O r» O >

Q

Do you agree with me?

Yes.

Did you print out this web page?
No.

Have you ever seen this?

No.

Can we turn to Attachment C, please? Seems to

be another printout of a web page.

> O r»r O >

Q

Do you agree with me?

Yes.

Did you print out this web page?
No.

Have you ever seen it before?
No.

Okay. Let"s turn to deposition Exhibit

Number 2, please, paragraph 1.

For the record, who do you currently work for

right now?

A
Q

FLIR.

And by FLIR, is there -- i1s that the common

name for the company? What"s the full legal name of the

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law
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company that you are aware of?
A FLIR Systems, Incorporated.
Q Is that the parent corporation or a subsidiary

that you work for? A division?

A It"s the parent company.
Q Do you work for any division in that company?
A I work for the customer -- 1 work on the

surveillance side for the consumer electronics or
consumer systems.

Q But it"s not like a subsidiary. It"s still --

A It"s FLIR as a parent company. There®s no --
iIt"s not a subsidiary.

Q Paragraph 1, it says you had previously worked
for a company called Indigo Systems Corporation; is that
correct?

A That"s correct.

Q When did you start working at Indigo Systems
Corporation?

A June of 2000.

Q And then i1t says you worked there until 1t --
it being Indigo -- was acquired by FLIR Systems in 2004;
iIs that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Do you recall when in 2004 FLIR Systems

acquired Indigo?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A No.

Q When you worked with Indigo from 2000 to
sometime in 2004, who did you report to as a supervisor?

A Jeff Frank.

Q And who is Jeff Frank?

A He was director of sales and marketing at
Indigo Systems.

Q And throughout your approximate 4-year
employment at Indigo Systems, did you always report to
Jeff Frank?

A He was the lead supervisor for sales marketing,
yes.

Q Was there anyone else you reported to during
that time frame?

A I was on a team of people that -- we were all
in the sales and marketing team.

Q Who else was on that team?

A Susan Petronio, Stan Laband, and Rudy Machuca
joined us 2001.

Q Susan Petronio, was she there before or after
you joined?

A Before.

Q Stan Laband, was he in that group before or
after you joined?

A Before.

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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Q And you just testified Rudy... can you spell
his last name, if you know it, for the record?

A Yeah, Machuca, M-A-C-H-U-C-A.

Q And your testimony is he started sometime iIn
20017
A Yes.

Q Do you recall what point in 2001 he started?

A Not specifically.

Q And to be clear, where 1 got this question was,
I asked who was your direct supervisor at the time --
the 4-year approximate time you were at Indigo, and you
mentioned Jeff Frank.

A Yes.

Q Any of these other three individuals ever

become your supervisor?

A No.

Q Did you supervise them?

A No.

Q So all four of you just reported directly to

Jeff Frank; i1s that correct?

A Yes.

Q And who did Jeff Frank report to?

A President of Indigo at the time. 1... I don"t
recall now.

Q Who is -- let me ask if you know who some of

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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these... do you know who a Tim Fitzgibbons is?
A Tim, yes. Tim Fitzgibbons.
Q Who 1s Mr. Fitzgibbons?
A He was the -- 1 don"t know If his title is

president or chief executive officer.

Q Is that who Jeff Frank reported to?

A Yes.

Q Do you know who a Bill Parrish i1s?

A Bill Parrish, yes, was on the executive

management team.
Q Did Mr. Fitzgibbons report to Mr. Parrish?
A No.
Q I*m just trying to understand if you have any
knowledge of -- well, did Mr. Frank report to
Mr. Parrish?
MR. GABRIC: Objection. Foundation.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q That you have any personal knowledge of?
A I don"t -- no, | don"t know.
Q Was there anyone else while you were still at

Indigo that you worked with in that 4-year time span?

A Yes.
Q Who else?
A I was In sales and marketing. So we interfaced

with all portions of the organization.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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Q What other portions of the organizations did
you interface with?

A The engineering team, manufacturing.

Q Do you recall who in the engineering team you
interfaced with?

A I would have to have an entire list of the
company. It was -- there was probably -- we were 75

strong in 2000.

Q Did you ever interface with Austin Richards?
A Yes.
Q And was Mr. Richards or Dr. Richards, 1 think,

I believe, part of the engineering team or manufacturing

or sales and marketing?

A He was like a chief technologist or maybe
senior scientist. 1 don"t know what his exact title
was.

Q Do you recall what group he was primarily in?

What group he functioned iIn?
A No, not specifically.
Q Do you recall any names from individuals at

Indigo in manufacturing you interfaced with?

A James Ursettie was on the team in
manufacturing.
Q Can you spell his last name for the record,

please? Can you spell his last name for the record?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
(312) 386-2000 www.merrillcorp.com/law
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A
Q
A
Q
bit

Exhi

Maybe U-R-S-E-T-T-1-E. That"s real close.
Anyone else you can recall?

Not specifically.

So let"s turn to paragraph 2 of deposition
Number 2, shall we. It says:

"At Indigo, 1 held the titles of sales

engineer and then sales manager."

A
Q
A

Q

See that?

Yes.

When did that title change happen?
I don"t specifically recall.

Did 1t happen closer to the time FLIR acquired

Indigo or would that help recall your memory?

A

was a --

No. I just —-- 1 don"t recall specifically. It

it was a promotion or a title change to reflect

added responsibility and experience within the company,

but 1 don"t remember exactly when that happened.

Q

role..."

> O >

Q

responsi

The next sentence starts off with, "In that

Do you see that?

Yes.

Which role are you referring to?

In the sales manager role.

So, the role doesn®t talk about your

bilities as sales engineer; is that correct?

(312) 386-2000
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A You know, those -- those two blended together.
We were a very small team. And so, the lines was -- the
line of demarcation within one job to another was -- the
mantra there was nobody ever said, "That®"s not my job.'
That was -- that was what we were -- that was the
mantra. We were still considered to be a small startup,
and nobody ever said, "That"s not my job."

Q What are the -- just like to get the record
straight because the rest of that sentence, after "lIn
that role,”™ you list several duties.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do those duties include both roles as a sales
manager and sales engineer or just sales manager?

A No. Both. They blended in together.

Q Okay. Can you tell me which ones are primarily
as a sales engineer?

A The sales channel would have been a sales
manager. Testing and evaluation of thermal camera
systems was more of an engineering function. Trade
shows was the sales manager. Pool assets sort of blends
to both because there"s a technical aspect of testing

the systems, ensuring they were correct. And the sales

(312) 386-2000

manager was the -- in support of the sales cycle. And
generally promoting the sales of products, 1 guess both
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of those -- both of those functions as a test engineer
or sales engineer and a sales manager both iIn support
the sale of products.
Q And completing the sentence, 1t says:
" . ..including the Merlin and Phoenix
thermal Imaging cameras."
Do you see that?
A Yes.
What are the Phoenix thermal Imaging camera?
A Phoenix was a higher powered version of the
same style camera, large format; at the time was
considered 640 x 480 as opposed to 320 -- 32 -- 30 --
let"s see. 320 x 240 or 320 x 256. The Merlin had
several different variants, and the resolutions were
different for some of the cameras, but the Phoenix was

the higher speed, more expensive of the two.

Q Do you know which came first in the development
standpoint?

A The Merlin was Tirst.

Q Do you know when Phoenix came online in the

development standpoint?

A No, not specifically.

Q And when you mentioned the word, uhm, large
format.

What do you mean by large format?

(312) 386-2000
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A In our world, a mega pixel camera is 640 x 480
as opposed to a 2 mega pixel camera. So, that was --
for the thermal industry, that was a large format
camera.

Q Going back to some of the job duties you have,
what do you mean by "'supporting the outside sales
channel™?

A The preparation of cameras for demonstrations
would include testing a camera to make sure that it
operated and that it had all the cables associated with
it, so that you could send i1t out to a customer or a
sales rep, and he could do a demonstration with the
camera.

Q And you may have just answered this question,
but what is a sales channel?

A That"s the outside representative; our outward
face to the customer.

Q And was part of your job duty to interface with
these sales representatives?

A Yes.

Q Do you know who a Jeff Leake, L-E-A-K-E 1s?

A Yes.

Q Who is Jeff Leake?

(312) 386-2000

A He was a sales representative that was
responsible for -- lived in Texas, covered the Texas
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area, Oklahoma, had a geographic territory.

Q Was he the sales representative for Indigo?

A They were -- they were not Indigo employees.
They were contract employees of their own. So, we —-
the business relationship, he was a member of a group
called IRCameras.com.

Q So is your testimony, Indigo distributed Indigo
cameras through a company called IR Cameras?

A They were a consortium of outside sales reps,
yes.

Q The next duty that you have is testing and
evaluation of thermal camera systems.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And you mentioned earlier that"s probably more
of a sales engineer function than a sales manager; is
that correct?

A Correct.

Q What kind of testing were you personally
involved iIn?

A That would include ensuring that the camera
operated; that you could turn it on and making sure that
everything was -- everything was there to make the
camera operate correctly.

Q And is this a already-built camera?

(312) 386-2000
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A Yes.

Q Were you involved in any of testing of any
development cameras?

A I don"t recall specifically.

Q And then you have "and evaluation.

What do you mean by "evaluation™?

A Just to make sure that the camera operated
correctly, so that if you pushed a specific function,
that the camera responded correctly and that the -- the
data that you were recording was correctly recorded.

Q And what were you testing, evaluating against?
Was there some protocol that you had?

A No. [It"s a subjective thing to make sure that
it Is imaging correctly.

Q Were there other individuals In your group that
did the testing and evaluation?

A Yes.

Q And if 1t"s a subjective evaluation, how did
you know you were consistent?

A It"s a -- 1t"s subjective. So, you look at the
image, and it does the -- does it have any image
artifacts in it? Does it have a good span? Does it
have good contrast in the image?

Q And are you testing and evaluating every camera

coming off the manufacturing line?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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A No.
Q Which cameras are you testing and evaluating?
A Cameras that were in the demo pool that would

need to go out to the outside world.

Q So, let"s talk about the next one, okay, where
you talk about the -- we"ll skip trade shows for a
second, but in support of sales cycle and supervise
Indigo®s pool of demo assets, do you see that?

A Yes.

Q So, the only -- well, let me ask you this.
What does "demo assets' mean?

A Demo asset i1s a camera that we -- we capitalize
a camera, and we have it set so that iIf somebody
requests a demo of a camera, we send It to them.

Q And so, those were the only cameras you tested
and evaluated; 1s that correct?

MR. GABRIC: Objection. Form.

THE WITNESS: Yes. | did not -- tested only
the cameras in the demo pool that were used for
demonstrations to the outside world.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q So you never tested a camera that was actually
bought by a customer perhaps; iIs that correct?

A Correct.

Q And going up one, where it says "Attending

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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Trade Shows,' let"s go back to that, do you recall what
some of the trade shows you went to were?

A Yeah. There was only one main trade show for
Indigo Systems at that time, was the SPIE conference.
That was the main.

Q And because, again, we are doing a transcript,
I think 1 know it and you know it.

Can you put for the record what the acronym
stands for, what you just said?

A Oh. 1t"s photonics. It"s a society of
photonics and -- gosh. 1 don®"t know what the acronym
stands. It"s SPIE. It"s the SPIE conference.

Q Why don®"t you spell the acronym, how is that?

A S-P-1-E. It"s a photonic society.

Q So, In the 2000 to 2000 (sic) time frame with
Indigo, was that the only conference that you are aware
of that -- let me strike all that.

In the 2000 to 2000 (sic) time frame, when you
are at Indigo, is that the only trade show that you are
aware of that you went to?

A Yes.

Q Were there any other trade shows that Indigo
went to or someone iIn your group went to that you are
aware of that you didn"t personally attend?

A I don"t recall.

(312) 386-2000
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Q Are there now additional trade shows that you

are aware of now that you are working at FLIR?

A Oh, yes.
Q Can you list some of those other trade shows?
A CES last week in Las Vegas. That"s one, one

prime example.

Q Any other trade shows?

A Yes. We attend -- the list is like 500 strong.

There"s trade shows in numerous markets, numerous
vertical markets we attend.

Q Does FLIR put on any trade shows?

A No. We attend the trade show as a conference
attendee or we pay money and we set up a booth.

Q What do you mean by "‘generally promoting sales
of the products™?

A That"s the -- the aspect of the sales manager
is to have an outward facing posture for prospective
customers. So, answering telephones, picking up phone
calls from somebody, and then routing them and helping
them.

Q And when you just testified to routing them,
where would you route them to?

A Other technical resources within the company
that, 1t they are -- their questions were beyond my

technical expertise.

(312) 386-2000
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Q Do you know why you signed this declaration?

Let me strike that, first of all.

Did you prepare this declaration?

MR. GABRIC: Objection to form.

THE WITNESS: 1 provided the details of my
specific work history and submitted that to legal
counsel. To Chris.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q And 1 don"t want any of your communications

with your legal counsel. So I"m going to -- before he
-— your counsel jumps in here, 1711 caution you. This
IS going to be a series of probably, like, yes or nos,
okay. That"s the kinds of questions I"m going to ask,

but what else did you provide -- let me ask you this.

Other than that, is there anything else you
provided your legal counsel?
A No.
Q So the only thing you provided your legal
counsel was your work history?

A Yes.

Q And so, after you provided that to your legal

counsel, a declaration was prepared; iIs that correct?

A Yes.
Q And did you review that declaration?
A Yes.

(312) 386-2000
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Q And is i1t this declaration?
A Yes.
Q And so, which portion of this declaration, by

paragraph number, is what you actually provided your
legal counsel?

MR. GABRIC: Objection to form.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Take your time. There®"s only nine paragraphs.

A I provided the specific details in paragraph 1
of my work history. |1 provided the job description. In
paragraph 2, 1 provided the specifics of my duties and
responsibilities. In 3 and 4, 5 and 6 -- all the rest
of them refer to the two attachments, which are the
users guide and the brochure.

Q And is 1t your testimony that prior to seeing
this declaration, you did not provide the user guide or
the brochure to any legal counsel; is that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q Again, my question is, do you know why you
signed this declaration?

MR. GABRIC: Object to form. You can answer
that yes or no, and 1 don®"t want you revealing any
communications with counsel regarding this declaration.

THE WITNESS: I still don"t understand the

question.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Do you know why you signed this, this being
Exhibit Number 27?

A Yes, to testify that the details included.

Q And how did legal counsel know to add a Merlin
brochure and user guide if you didn"t provide that
information to them?

MR. GABRIC: 1711 object to form. Calls for

speculation. And instruct you not to answer.

(Witness instructed not to answer.)

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Are you going to take that instruction?
A Yes.
Q So let"s turn to paragraph 6, shall we?

Paragraph 6, it"s talking about what you"ve

already confirmed as what is Attachment A; is that

correct?
A Correct.
Q Now, when you executed this, this declaration,

was Attachment A and B provided to you?

A Yes.
Q Had you seen what"s -- and please feel free to
turn to Attachment A -- prior to this declaration being

(312) 386-2000
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executed, Attachment A?

A Yes.

Q And what i1s your bases for saying that what"s
been marked as Attachment A Is the exact copy of a
Merlin brochure that you had previously seen?

A That was the -- it"s the four -- four- or
five-page, multifold brochure that we were representing

the Merlin camera with.

Q Did you prepare that brochure?

A I participated in the development cycle of the
brochure.

Q Who else participated in the development cycle

of that brochure?

A That would have been Ilene Wrench on our staff
in the marketing department, and Jeff Frank.

Q Anyone else?

A My colleagues iIn the sales cycle would have
participated, in general, in the review, to ensure
technical accuracy.

Q Anyone else you can name?

A Not specifically.

Q And describe in detail exactly what your

participation was?

(312) 386-2000

A I would have -- 1 wouldn"t have commented on
the colors or the -- the -- the creative aspect of it.
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At my -- my -- my role would have been to review the
technical accuracy of the specifications that -- that
were written on here to help the marketing department.

Q And who came to you with any questions to
review for accuracy?

A I don®"t understand the question.

Q Someone up -- did someone come to you and say,
"Hey, Roy, we put this together. What do you think?"

How did that interface happen?

A It was just as a general. 1In the review cycle,
it would be available to look over, but it wasn®"t my
specific responsibility. It was just: Here"s the
brochure.

And since 1 had to represent it to the outside
world, I would scan 1t and make sure the technical
specifications and the minutia of the specs were
correct.

Q And that review cycle was like a distribution
list of individuals who are all participating?

A No, 1 don"t think we were that formal. It was
a small startup. And so, it was: Well, the brochure is
ready, take a look.

Q Where did you look?

A I focused on the technical aspects of it.

Q Let me rephrase 1t. You just said, "Hey, the

(312) 386-2000
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brochure is ready, take a look."

What did you look at exactly?

A A draft copy of the brochure.

Q And how was that circulated to you?

A I don"t recall.

Q Do you know how it was circulated to anyone on

the development team, that brochure?
A No, 1 don"t.
Q Then how do you know this is the iteration that

was finalized?

A Based on the date time group from the printer.
Q What does that date time group mean to you?
A That"s when we actually went to press with it.

And so, if the -- 1f the printer printed it in January
of "02, that would have been the -- that would have been
the time frame. That would have been the date code, so
we knew that we had the correct version of the camera
that accurately reflected the product line.

Q Who 1s the printer?

A This company, local company called Buffalo
Brothers.
Q Is Buffalo Brothers still in existence today?

A They are.
Q How do you know that?
A

I checked with them.

(312) 386-2000
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Q When did you check with them?

A In preparation of the -- of the document to
verify that the -- independently verify that they were
printed in the January time frame.

Q Why did you check with them?

A To ensure that | was reflecting the specific
brochure that was printed at that time frame.

Q And did you check with them before you signed
this declaration or after you signed this declaration?

A No, before.

Q Okay. When precisely did you check with them?

A It would have been in the February 2000 -- 2013
time frame.

Q Do you mean "147? 20147

A Yeah, sorry. 1 skipped a year there. Yes, it
would have been In -- In preparation for signing the
document. 1 checked with Buffalo Brothers to see if we

could extract the document and the production run.

Q How come there®s no mention of Buffalo Brothers
anywhere i1n this declaration?

A I don"t know.

Q In all those other declarations that you have
in front of you, how come there®s no mention of Buffalo
Brothers iIn any of those declarations?

A It wasn"t germane to what I was testifying to.

(312) 386-2000
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Q And how exactly did you verify from Buffalo
Brothers what you just testified to?

A I contacted the remaining management structure
of Buffalo Brothers, their production house, and 1 asked
if we could get copies of the brochures that were

printed and distributed during that time frame.

Q And did they send you some copies?
A No.
Q And who exactly at Buffalo Brothers was your

contact person?
A I don"t remember the gentleman®s name. 1 would

have to go look 1t back up in my records.

Q But it would be available in your records,
right?
A I could find out who the gentlemen was. |1

would make a phone call to Buffalo Brothers to track
down who it was.

Q So other than your apparent call to Buffalo
Brothers that®s not mentioned in any of your
declarations, how else do you know that this is the
exact brochure that you are testifying to?

A Because we prepared the brochure in
anticipation of the SPIE conference i1n April.

Q But that®"s not mentioned iIn your Ffirst

declaration; isn"t that correct?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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A I don®"t understand the question.

Q The deposition Exhibit Number 2, you don"t
mention that conference iIn that declaration; isn"t that
correct?

A No. [In paragraph 6, the brochures were passed
out at the SPIE trade shows.

Is that what you are referring to?

Q You are right. Let me strike all that.

So, what exactly did the gentleman at Buffalo
Brothers tell you?

A He didn"t have hard copies of the -- of the
brochures anymore.

Q That"s all he told you?

A That if we needed to go further into the
records, iIf 1 wanted to verify specific runs of the
brochures, that it would -- it would take him a lot of

extra effort and time and money would be spent.

Q Was that extra effort conducted, to your
opinion —-- 1"m sorry -- to your knowledge.
A No.

Q So, other than that, did you only make one call
to Buffalo Brothers?

A No. I made two calls, 1 believe.

Q Okay .

A Maybe two calls.

(312) 386-2000
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Q So what you just testified to, was that on the
first call or the second call?

A The second call was to verify or inquire how
difficult it would be to go back and extract a hard copy
of the brochure.

Q And did he tell you how much time and effort it
would -- what that would consist of?

A No, not specifically.

Q And you made no effort to follow up on that; is
that correct?

A Correct.

Q And for the record, you don"t recall this
person®s name at Buffalo Records (sic) as you sit here
today; is that correct?

A Not off the top of my head, no.

Q And you didn"t think that was important to know
coming into this deposition; isn"t that correct?

MR. GABRIC: Objection to form.

THE WITNESS: That"s correct. 1 verified that
they printed the brochure in the 2002 time frame, and
that"s what 1 wanted to verify.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q And how, again, did the individual at Buffalo

Brothers verify to you that they printed i1t in the 2002

time frame?
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A He had billing invoices he could verify which
production runs were made at a specific time.
Q And you don"t include any of that billing

invoices In any of your declarations; isn"t that

correct?
A That®s correct.
Q Have you asked for those billing invoices?
A No.
Q Do you know if there would be any -- let me

strike that.

When you -- after you had gone to the
development cycles brochure and you put your input, do
you know who gave the final green light on it?

A Jeff Frank and llene Wrench would have been the
actual final signoff on the brochure.

Q And do you recall what llene Wrench"s title
was?

A She was marketing -- marketing specialist, |
think is what the title was, but that was -- that was
her purview. Her business was to prepare brochures, do
the creative aspect of it. She wasn®"t a technical --
she wasn"t a technical writer.

Q Do you have any knowledge of who contacted
Buffalo Brothers?

A Ilene Wrench worked with the printer.

(312) 386-2000
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Q And what i1s your basis of having that personal
knowledge?

A That could be because I know that was her job.

Q So let me ask the question again.

Do you have any actual bases to know that llene
contacted Buffalo Brothers?

A No.

Q And so, you also don"t have any knowledge of
what Indigo may have been invoiced by Buffalo Brothers;
isn"t that correct?

A That"s correct.

Q And you made no effort to go look for any
invoices In Indigo System to verify what the Buffalo
Brothers individual told you; isn"t that correct?

A Correct.

MR. VINNAKOTA: How about we take a break?
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 2:27 p.m. We are

off the record.

(OFf the record.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time s 2:37 p.m. We are
back on the record.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Sir, before the break, 1 cautioned you that the
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rules require that you don"t speak to your counsel about
the substance of any testimony.

Did you speak to your counsel about any of the
substance of the testimony you just testified to?

A No.

Q Did you speak to your counsel about the
substance of any testimony that might come up?

A No.

Q Going back to Buffalo Brothers, with respect to
the individual you can®t recall that you spoke to,
approximately two times, prior to your testimony
executing this declaration that"s been marked as
Exhibit 2 to this deposition, did that individual tell
you precisely when Merlin brochures were printed?

A No.

Q What did that individual tell you?

A That it would cost time and money for him to go
back through his records to extract specific data
related to 1t. 1t"s in his database, but 1t was hard to
get to.

Q Did the individual tell you over the phone what
the invoice date said?

A No.

Q Did you ask?

A No.

(312) 386-2000
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Q Why?

A I verified that it was in the June -- January
time frame of "02. What 1 was looking for was a copy of
the brochure. That"s what I was -- | wanted to see 1f
he could print out a hard copy of the brochure. And he
said that would -- 1t was buried In his records, and it
would take a lot of time because they did thousands of
jobs.

Q So what exactly did he verify for you that
you"re relying on as recollection for your declaration?

A That they printed 1t in January 2002.

Q Do you have any evidence that what he printed
is the copy that you have as Attachment A to deposition
Exhibit 27?

A The time, the date timestamp, not date time.
There®s not a time associated with the -- but the
printing date of Rev A, Rev A 1/02. January of "02.

Q Didn®"t you just testify that the individual at
Buffalo Brothers couldn®"t tell you dates because it
would take too much time and effort to do?

A He couldn®"t -- he couldn®t extract the specific
hard copy of a brochure.

Q So, did he tell you a date that it was printed?

A Just that he verified that 1t was a January "02

run.
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Q How did he verify it?

A Through financial records. There®s a
difference in his system between a financial record and
the actual -- the artwork. 1t was two different
systems. One was an accounting system, and that was
easy to get to. But getting the hard copy of the
brochure would be --

Q And what specifically of the financial records
date did he give you?

A January of "02.

Q And you never asked for a copy of that; i1s that

correct?
A Correct.
Q And you testified that, in your records, you

will be able to get the name of that individual; isn"t
that correct?

A Yes.

Q Was that individual able to tell you in that --
whatever record he looked at, what else was printed
maybe on January 20027

A No.

Q Was that individual able to tell you from his
record what exactly was printed?

A He had a -- he had an invoice for the printing

run that he made iIn January of "02.
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Q Did he tell you exactly what the line item was
in that invoice?

A He verified that i1t was the Merlin brochure
printed in January of "02.

Q Okay. How was he able to verify that to you?

A I don"t know.

Q So as you sit here today, do you have any
personal knowledge that the date that is on Exhibit 2,
Attachment A, is a date that Buffalo Brothers printed
that Merlin brochure?

A No.

Q Can we turn to paragraph 6, still, of
Exhibit 2? In paragraph 6, 1"m going to start with the
sentence after "Orlando, Florida.”™ It says:

"The brochure was also available
directly from Indigo"s website as of
January 2000 date."

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And you said:

"1 was able to validate this by our
internal records as well as through the use of
the Wayback Machine.™
Do you see that?

A Yes.
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Q What company owns the Wayback Machine?
A I don"t know.

Q Do you know how the Wayback Machine gathers

data?

A No.

Q Did you make any inquiry on how that data is
gathered?

A No.

Q And how many times did you go on to the Wayback
Machine before you attested to the statement on
paragraph 67

A At least once.

Q When did you go on the Wayback Machine?

A I went on there with legal counsel iIn February
of 2014.

Q And what internal records are you talking
about?

A That*s the Buffalo Brother records | was
talking about. It was in reference to records, was the
Buffalo Brothers... the investigation. 1 went to try

and get a copy of that.
Q Why did you feel to use the word "internal™?
Is Buffalo a part of FLIR? 1I1°m sorry. Strike that.
Is Buffalo Brothers a part of Indigo or FLIR?

A No.
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Q So why did you choose to use the word

“internal™ if 1t"s not documents kept inside the

company?
A I don"t recall.
Q Would you like to change the word "internal”

records to be more precise, as you sit here today?

A No.

Q So you are still comfortable using the word
“internal™ records?

A Yes.

Q So other than the two phone calls to Buffalo
Brothers and the one instant using the Wayback Machine,
is there any other way you confirmed that the
attachments that®"s Attachment A to this declaration iIs a
copy of a Merlin brochure that was available at least iIn
January 20027?

MR. GABRIC: Object to form.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:
Q Did you have any of these copies in your

personal file?

A No.
Q Were you asked to look for i1t?
A Yes.
Q And were you able to find any?
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A
Q

7 says "The Merlin User Guide."

A
Q

correct?

A
Q

A
Q

Indigo in that 4-year time frame?

A

Q
A

camera as well.

Q

No.

Go to paragraph 7. The title before paragraph

Do you see that?
Yes.

And this is referring to Attachment B; is that

Correct.
Now, the sentence says (as read):

"The Merlin Users Guide Is a user
guide that describes the Merlin Mid camera sold
by Indigo in at least the 2000 to 2000 (sic)
time frame.™
Is that correct?

2004, yes.

2004 time frame.
Is that correct?
Correct.

Is Attachment B the only user guide used by
No.
How do you know that?

Because there was a user guide for the Phoenix

Let me be more precise.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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Is the Attachment B user guide, Merlin User
Guide, the only Merlin User Guide used to describe the
Merlin Mid camera sold by Indigo in at least the 2000,
2000 -- 2004 time frame?

A There would have been others. As the product
matured and evolved, the user guide would have been
revised to reflect technical changes In the camera.

Q Do you know how many evolutions of the user
guide there were?

A No.

Q Let"s turn to Attachment B, shall we? Can you
tell me from just the front of this document where the
-- 1n the evolution time frame this user guide was
developed?

A No.

Do you have any knowledge of that?
No.

Q
A
Q Do you have any personal knowledge?
A No.

Q

Turn back to paragraph 7. Second sentence

"The Merlin Users Guide document was
distributed to customers with the Merlin Mid
camera."

Do you see that?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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A Yes.
Q Were you involved iIn the distribution of the

Merlin user guides to customers?

A Yes.
Q In what capacity?
A As, uhm, as an adjunct to the sales cycle to

send out to a customer.

Q Did you send this specific user guide to a
customer?
A I almost certainly would have. That was the

users guide that covered the camera. That would be a
yes.
Q Paragraph 8 says:

"The Merlin User Guide was also
available for download directly from Indigo®s
website."

Do you see that?

Yes.

How did you verify that statement?

I don"t recall.

Did Indigo have a website in June of 20007
Yes. Yes.

Did you maintain that website?

No.

o » O > O r» O F

Did you develop that website?

(312) 386-2000

Merrill Corporation - Chicago

www.merrillcorp.com/law



© 0o N o o A~ wWw N P

=
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Roy Malmberg January 15, 2015

56

A No.

Q Did you write the HTML code for that website?

A No.

Q Did you upload documents on that website?

A No.

Q Did you change documents off that website?

A No.

Q Do you know who did?

A No.

Q Did you ever, personally, download the Merlin
User Guide off that website in June 20007

A I don"t recall.

Q Did you ever at any time download the Merlin

User Guide off any website?

A I didn™"t need to download 1t from the website.
I had i1t available internally. No.

Q So you don"t have personal knowledge that the
user guide was actually available for download directly
from Indigo®"s website, do you?

A No. [It"s my recollection that it was available
from the website.

Q But you can®"t -- what"s that recollection based
on?

A It"s a general tool. The website i1s a general

tool that is used to communicate with the customers.
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Q Did you ever direct customers to the website

while you were at Indigo?

A Yes.

Q Do you talk about that on your declaration?
A No.

Q Do you talk about ever telling a customer to

download the user guide off the website?

A No.

Q And you already testified you weren®t even
maintaining the website; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And you already testified you don"t even know
who created the website; is that correct?

A You are correct. 1 don®"t know who. Somebody
was behind the code, but 1t wasn*t in my wheelhouse.

Q And you testified earlier that during the
development phase of a Merlin Mid, there could be an
evolution of the user guide; isn"t that correct?

A Yes.

Q And you have no personal knowledge whether or
not, 1If the user guide changed versions, that the
website was updated, do you?

A Correct.

Q Let"s turn to paragraph 9. Now, why did you

add paragraph 9 to this declaration?
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MR. GABRIC: 171l just caution you not to
reveal the substance of any communications with counsel.
THE WITNESS: 1 don"t understand the question.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:
Q Why did you add paragraph 9 to this
declaration?
A To 1dentify whether Merlin Mid cameras were
sold with custom cold filters.
Q Did you have to use the Merlin brochure, Merlin
User Guide to articulate the assertions in paragraph 97
MR. GABRIC: Objection to form.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:
Q Why is that?
A It wasn"t necessary to refer to the brochure to
tell somebody that a custom cold filter was available as

an option. That"s what we did.

Q Can you repeat what you just said?
A It"s what we did. 1t was our job.
Q Describe that job then. |If a customer came to

you, asking for a, what you call, using your words, a
custom cold filter, what did you do?

A We would -- we would explore the application
and then be able to make recommendations on how to

achieve what their end goal was.
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Q What kind of applications did customers come to
you asking for a custom cold filter?

A Species specific, species detection. From a
scientific perspective, to look for specific emissions,
fugitive emissions, gas plumes, rocket, rocket exhaust,
other scientific kinds of applications in laboratory
spectroscopy -

Q Who came to you asking for emissions

applications?

A Numerous customers.

Q Do you list any of those customers in paragraph
9?

A No.

Q Can you tell me, from your personal knowledge,

what some of those customers were?
A Uhm, yeah. The telecommunications industry.

The gas industry.

Q Do you have -- I™m sorry. Go ahead.

A Jet propulsion laboratory, those kinds of
customers.

Q Let"s go back to telecommunications industry.

Do you have any specific company name?
A No. 1 don"t remember, but in the beginning,
the fiberoptic industry was virgining. And so, they

were interested in typically outside the Merlin Mid or
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just at the bottom of the Merlin Mid responsivity curve.

Q And 1 think you said the gas iIndustry; is that

correct?
A Yes.
Q Do you know any companies in the gas industry

that are looking for emissions?
The Leake Company, Jeff Leake.

Anyone else?

> O >

Not that 1 can recall specifically.

Q And what do you recall about The Leake Company
asking you about emissions?

A That -- 1Tt we could manufacture a camera for

gas emissions.

Q Anyone else?
A I don"t recall.
Q You also mentioned fugitive emissions.

Do you recall that?

A That*s a term that is used for like a first
responder if there was, say, for instance, a -- like a
train wreck. First responder would want to come up.
Before they commit their fire resources, they would like
to know what it is that they are sending the firefighter
into.

Q Do you know what companies were asking for

that?

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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A No, I don"t recall.

Q Would there be records at FLIR or Indigo that
would refresh your memory?

A Sure. You could look at -- you could discern
those customers by looking at our billed records for the
cameras that were -- that were sold. You could go back
and look at the configuration log to determine what the
specific fTilters were.

Q Could those configuration logs tell you what
applications they were used for?

A No, but 1t was -- it wouldn™t specifically say
what they were going to -- what the customer --
sometimes the customer wouldn®t tell us what they were
going to use it for.

Q How are you aware that Jeff Leake was looking
for a gas -- I"m sorry -- for an emission, | believe you
said, an emission application instrument?

A I1*"ve been working with Jeff since the early
"90s.

Q Do you know who Jeff Leake was working with or

for to get that instrument?

A Yeah. He had many customers. Yes.
Q Who were some of his customers?
A Well, the subject Furry brothers were one of

them. He sold cameras to numerous entities.
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Q So other than Jeff Leake, can you tell me any
other instance when a customer came to you asking for a
custom filter to look for hydrocarbon gas detection iIn
an industrial setting?

MR. GABRIC: Objection to form.

THE WITNESS: Not specifically.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Let"s take a break.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time s 2:59 p.m. We are

off the record.

(Off the record.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 3:08 p.m. We are

back on the record.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Sir, do you intend to execute any additional
declarations in this matter?

A Not unlless I"m asked to.

MR. VINNAKOTA: At this time, we are about to
pass the witness, but I would just have -- ask for the
same stipulation that we"ve done before; that should
this witness put any supplemental declarations in these
IPR proceedings, we reserve the right to depose. And
since these topics were limited scope, there i1Is a stayed

litigation matter, that this witness will be subject to
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the full rights that we have, we being Leak Surveys, on
deposing the individual in the co-pending litigation.

At this time, we pass the witness iIf you agree
to the stipulation.

MR. GABRIC: Yeah. 1 -- if he offers a
supplemental declaration, we will make him available for
deposition. And like the prior deposition, this
deposition is for the IPR. | don"t think 1t has any
impact on what you may elect to do in this court case.

So, I™m going to take about a 10-minute break
and see 1T I have any questions, and then go forward.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 3:09 p.m. We are

off the record.

(Off the record.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 3:38 p.m. We

are back on the record.

EXAMINATION

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q Welcome back, Mr. Malmberg. 1 just have a few

questions. All right, sir? Okay.
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A Yes.

Q All right. Can you please take a look at
Exhibit 2, Malmberg Exhibit 2? You have that in front
of you?

A I do.

Q All right. And Attachment A, could you
identify what that i1s?

A Attachment A i1s the Merlin family brochure.

Q Okay. And that brochure is referenced your
declaration?
A Correct.

Q All right. And what"s Attachment B, sir?

A Attachment B is the Merlin Mid Users Guide.

Q Okay. And that document is referred in your
declaration?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And did you review these documents

before signing your declaration?

A Yes, |1 did.

Q All right. Are you familiar with those
documents before you signed your declaration?

A I was.

Q And is that also true with respect to the
subsequent declarations you signed In this matter,

Malmberg 3 through 5?
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MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form.
BY MR. GABRIC:
Q Were you familiar with Attachments A and B
that"s set forth here in Malmberg 27
A Yes.
MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form.
BY MR. GABRIC:
Q Okay. And did you review each of your
declarations for accuracy before signing them?
A To the best my recollection, yes.
Q Okay. Now, could you please turn to Malmberg
3, please? And 1°d like to focus on paragraphs 5 and 6.
Give you a moment to review that.
Let me know when you are done reviewing it,

okay, sir?

A Yes.

Q Done reviewing 5 and 67

A I am.

Q All right. Those paragraphs refer to a trade

show 1n April 1 through 4, 2002.
Do you see that?
A I do.
Q All right. And were you at that trade show
referred to In paragraphs 5 and 67

A 1 was.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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Q And how, sir, do you know that you attended

that trade show in April of 20027?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form.

THE WITNESS: 1 attended the -- the trade show,
SPIE conference, for all of the years, from 2001, "2,
"3, and "4.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And how do you know that?

A Because 1 -- 1 ended up missing Easter dinner
with my family for 4 years in a row, and 1 took a lot of
-- took a lot of criticism on the home front for always
traveling on Easter Sunday to go to a trade show.

Q So would you travel down to the trade show
before 1t commenced to help set up things?

A Yeah. |1 was involved with the setup of the
booth and the... carting the boxes iIn, setting the
booth up, preparing the booth.

Q Okay. And is there any doubt in your mind
whatsoever that you were at that trade show, the
ThermoSense trade show down in Orlando on April 1
through 4, 20027

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form.
THE WITNESS: None whatsoever.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q All right. Now, Attachment A to Malmberg 3,

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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it"s the Merlin brochure, right?

Q All right. And in this declaration, you
testified that 1t was this brochure, Attachment A, that
was handed out at the April 1 through 4, 2002 trade show
referred to in your declaration, correct?

A Correct.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form. Let me
finish my objection.

MR. GABRIC: Yeah, sure.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Outside the scope
of cross-examination.

MR. GABRIC: You done? Okay.

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q Now, sir, how do you know it was this specific
brochure, Attachment Exhibit A, that that"s the brochure
that you handed out at that trade show in April 1
through 4, 20027

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross-examination.

THE WITNESS: Because the product line had
significantly changed and necessitated us to change the
brochure to reflect current status of the product line.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And so, was there a prior version of this

(312) 386-2000
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brochure?
A There was.
Q And were there differences between that prior

version and the version that"s attached as Exhibit A to
your declaration that reflect the change in product
line?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: It does. It does not include the
Merlin Quip camera. There were only three variants of
the Merlin camera.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q What are you referring to, sir?

A There was -- on the earlier version of the
brochure, there was a single page cut sheet, and it had
four, separate, Merlin cameras associated with it.
There was the NIR, the Mid, the Quip, and also then the
Microbolometer. So, there were two long wave, one NIR
infrared and one Mid wave.

And additionally, there was a big splash with

our third party, Talon, and Thermoteknix digital

acquisition -- data acquisition systems.
Q That"s the prior brochure?
A That -- we didn"t have it on the prior brochure

because we hadn®"t developed those two products. So this
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was a -- we changed the focus of the brochure from a
one-page cut sheet to a multi, multipage foldout that
included a -- dropped the Quip camera, and included the
Talon acquisition and the Thermoteknix, the ThermaGRAM
system.

Q Mr. Malmberg, I want to make sure that the
record is clear, so let"s take this iIn baby steps.

A Okay .

Q The -- what is iIn the Attachment A to your
declaration, what is in that brochure that was not in
the prior brochure, to the best of your knowledge?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection. Form. Objection.
Beyond the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: The -- the absence of the Merlin
Quip camera in this brochure.

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q What brochure, sir?

A In the 2002 brochure.

And the addition of the Talon acquisition and
the ThermaGRAM data acquisition subsystems were not --
were not In the first version of the Merlin family. It
was a one-page cut sheet that did not include this much
data.

Q And when were these changes made to the product

line that are reflected in the --
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A We were --

Q Hold on. Let me get my question out.

When were these changes made in the product
line that are reflected iIn the brochure that"s attached
as Exhibit A to the declaration?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: During 2001.

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And do you recall being involved in the
preparation of the brochure that"s attached as Exhibit
A?

A Yes, 1 do.

Q Okay. And was there any particular event that
you Tfolks were working towards to have this brochure
ready for?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: Yes. The SPIE conference was the
single main event in our industry.

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And that"s the SP -- the SPIE conference that"s
referred to or the ThermoSense conference that"s
referred to In the declaration?

A Yes.
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Q All right. So, you folks were targeted to have
this brochure completed for the April 1 through 4, 2002
ThermoSense conference we have heard In your
declaration?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside cross.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And why was that?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Same objection.

THE WITNESS: 1t was a big deal. The absence
of the Quip to accurately reflect that change in the
product line, we wanted to get that out of the brochure.
But the -- in particular, the Thermoteknix and the
acquisition with the third party company, we teamed with
them because they had a best-of-breed acquisition
system. So we needed to include that in the brochure.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And so, was this brochure completed then by the
April 2002 ThermoSense conference?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: Yes. We went to print and
printed this brochure In January in preparation for the

April show.
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BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And sir, did you personally hand out this
brochure, Attachment A, at the ThermoSense conference in
April of 2002?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.

THE WITNESS: Yes, 1 did.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q Approximately how many copies of this brochure
did you hand out?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.
THE WITNESS: Approximately 100 to 200
brochures over the 4 days.
BY MR. GABRIC:
Q And was this conference open to the public?
MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,
outside the scope of cross.
THE WITNESS: Yes, it was.
BY MR. GABRIC:

Q And so, you do have personal knowledge, sir,
that this brochure existed certainly by the time of
April 2002 when you, yourself, were handing this
brochure out at that conference; Is that correct?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Objection, form. Objection,

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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outside the scope of cross.
THE WITNESS: Absolutely.
MR. GABRIC: Take a break, few minutes.
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 3:47 p.m. We are

off the record.

(Off the record.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 3:52 p.m. We are
back on the record.

MR. GABRIC: Oh, I"m sorry. Everyone 1is
waiting on me.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Is that some strategy that you
have or something? Jesus. That"s awesome.

MR. GABRIC: Don"t get old. This iIs what
happens. 1 pass the witness. |1 apologize. Traveling a
lot lately.

MR. VINNAKOTA: You work with him.

CONTINUED EXAMINATION

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Sir, all the testimony that you just gave to

your counsel, can you point to me any place of any of

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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your declarations where that is?
MR. GABRIC: Objection. Compound.
THE WITNESS: No.

BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q In the break, prior to the redirect examination
of your counsel, did you speak to your counsel about the
answers you were going to provide?

A Yes.

Q What did you guys talk about?

MR. GABRIC: Objection. Instruct you not to

answer. Privilege.

(Witness instructed not to answer.)

MR. VINNAKOTA: 1Is it your position that
cross-examination ends on the first cross-examination
and not the entirety of the deposition?

MR. GABRIC: Yeah.

MR. VINNAKOTA: 1 think we are going to call
the board then. Let"s go off the record for a second.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Sure. Time is 3:54 p.m. We

are off the record.

(OFf the record.)

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time is 4:16 p.m. We are
back on the record.
BY MR. VINNAKOTA:

Q Sir, prior to the break, before redirect
examination, did your counsel suggest how you should
answer any of the questions that he posed to you?

MR. GABRIC: 1I"1l1 object to the question. It
seeks privileged information.

MR. VINNAKOTA: We are going to call the board.
Are you instructing him not to answer?

MR. GABRIC: Yeah. 1°m instructing him. You

are seeking privileged communications.

(Witness instructed not to answer.)

MR. VINNAKOTA: Even though 1t"s a yes or no
answer?

MR. GABRIC: Yeah. It goes to the substance of
the communications.

MR. VINNAKOTA: We are going to call.

MR. GABRIC: 1It"s also -- the question is
vague.

MR. VINNAKOTA: We are going to call the board
on that one question.

MR. GABRIC: Okay.

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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MR. VINNAKOTA: We will still stay on the
record while we get the number.

MR. PUCKETT: Well, we might want to go off the
record while we get the board.

MR. GABRIC: Yeah.

THE COURT: Time is 4:16 p.m. off the record.

(OFf the record.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Time s 4:20 p.m. We are
back on the record.

MR. VINNAKOTA: So, we attempted two attempts,
counsel, you can verify, to contact the board for
resolution on the one question that patent owner would
like guidance on. At this time -- and the purpose for
the call was to try to get a ruling from the board
whether or not the objection, privilege objection should
be sustained or overruled.

Counsel, 1 mean, I have no other questions
other than that, so --

MR. GABRIC: Okay.

MR. VINNAKOTA: -- my suggestion, if you agree,
iIs we take it up with the board at the earliest
convenience possible. If that objection 1s overruled,

unfortunately, we may have to seek or recall the witness
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at that point. So we are going to still keep this
deposition open up until then. So, however you want to
play i1t.

MR. GABRIC: 1"m happy to play it that way.
Looks like we got to play it that way given we can"t get
the judge right now.

MR. VINNAKOTA: So, at this time, we will
suspend this deposition. We are not ending it at this
moment until we get final resolution of that question.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Ready to go off the record?

MR. VINNAKOTA: Off the record.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This concludes today"s
deposition of Roy Malmberg --

MR. GABRIC: Let me reserve signature. 1°m not
sure 1 have to expressly say that in this proceeding,
but I"m going to reserve signature, counsel.

MR. VINNAKOTA: Fair enough.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: All right. This concludes
the deposition of Roy Malmberg. The number of media
used was one. The time is 4:21 p.m. We are off the

record.

(Off the record.)
(Deposition proceedings were

concluded at 4:21 p.m.)
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

I, ROY MALMBERG, hereby certify under penalty
of perjury under the laws of the State of California that
the foregoing i1s true and correct.

Executed this day of .

20 , at , California.

ROY MALMBERG

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA)
) ss.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

1, ERIKA A. SJOQUIST, C.S.R., R.P.R., C.R.R_,
C.S.R. NO. 12350, a Certified Shorthand Reporter in and
for the County of Los Angeles, the State of California, do
hereby certify:

That, prior to being examined, the witness named in
the foregoing deposition was by me duly sworn to testify
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth;

That said deposition was taken down by me iIn
shorthand at the time and place therein named, and
thereafter reduced to typewriting by computer-aided
transcription under my direction.

I further certify that 1 am not interested in the
event of the action.

Witness my hand this day of ,

20

Certified Shorthand Reporter
in and for the County of

Los Angeles, State of California

Merrill Corporation - Chicago
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